Case No.: S244148

JAN 1.7 2020

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

### **ARAM BONNI**

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

ST. JOSEPH HEALTH SYSTEM, et al.

Defendants and Respondents

### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Case No. G052367

Appeal From The Superior Court Of Orange County Case No. 30-2014-00758655 The Honorable Andrew P. Banks, Judge

Lowell C. Brown (SBN 108253), lowell.brown@arentfox.com
\*Debra J. Albin-Riley (SBN 112602), debra.riley@arentfox.com
Karen Van Essen (SBN 278407), karen.vanessen@arentfox.com
Diane Roldán (SBN 288224), diane.roldan@arentfox.com

### I. ISSUE PRESENTED

"In light of Kibler [v. Northern Inyo County Local Hospital Dist. (2006) 39 Cal.4th 192] and Park [v. Board of Trustees of California State University (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1057], what stages of the official medical staff peer review process are within the protections of the anti-SLAPP statute?"

### II. INTRODUCTION

This case presents an unprecedented opportunity to determine the full scope of the anti-SLAPP statute's application in lawsuits arising from the medical staff peer review process. The Court may now clarify the statute's breadth in a manner that will support hospitals and peer reviewers in meeting their statutory duty to protect the public from substandard medical care.

Plaintiff Aram Bonni, M.D., seriously injured multiple patients at two different hospitals. One of Dr. Bonni's patients almost died from surgical injuries he inflicted that resembled "gunshot wounds to the abdomen." Given his disastrous surgeries, Plaintiff underwent medical peer review, a statutorily mandated process by which hospital medical staffs evaluate a physician's competence, determine whether the physician may continue to practice medicine at the hospital, and report the results to government authorities. (See *Kibler*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 200 [Peer review "plays a significant role in protecting the public against incompetent, impaired, or negligent physicians."].) In response, Plaintiff filed a retaliation claim against the two

Defendant hospitals, a medical staff and its medical executive committee, and eight individual physicians who allegedly subjected him to a "lengthy and humiliating peer review process."

This case concerns the extent to which the speech and petitioning activity in medical peer review is protected under prong one of the anti-SLAPP statute, Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16 ("Section 425.16"). In *Kibler*, the Court held that peer review is an official proceeding. (Kibler, 39 Cal.4th 192.) In Park, the Court clarified that Kibler addressed "only whether statements in connection with but outside the course of such a proceeding can qualify as 'statement[s] ... in connection with an issue under consideration' in an 'official proceeding." (Park, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1070, quoting Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (e)(2).) Neither Kibler nor Park addressed peer review conduct in furtherance of speech and petitioning activity under (e)(4) of the anti-SLAPP statute. This case squarely presents this issue and demonstrates that the entirety of medical peer review falls within the protections of the anti-SLAPP statute subdivisions (e)(2) and (e)(4).

As an initial matter, Section 425.16, subdivision (e)(2) protects most peer review activity, as statements made in connection with an official proceeding. Plaintiff targets a wide array of peer review speech and petitioning activity, including:

(a) statements made during peer review committee meetings;

(b) disciplinary recommendations; (c) statutorily mandated reporting to government authorities regarding unsafe care and proposed discipline; and (d) written notices submitted during the

peer review hearing process. All these communications are statements made before or in connection with an official proceeding under the anti-SLAPP statute's subdivision (e)(2).

To the extent any peer review actions Plaintiff alleges do not fit within subdivision (e)(2)'s scope, those actions are conduct in furtherance of speech and petitioning in connection with an issue of public interest, and protected by subdivision (e)(4). In particular, Plaintiff alleges that summary suspensions at both hospitals harmed him, as did one hospital board's final approval of recommended discipline. Summary suspensions and hospital board approval of recommended discipline are acts that further petitioning to government authorities regarding patient safety, which subdivision (e)(4) protects.

### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court considers *de novo* whether a plaintiff's claims arise from activity protected under the anti-SLAPP statute.

(Wilson v. Cable News Network, Inc. (2019) 7 Cal.5th 871, 884.)

In making this determination, the Court considers the pleadings and supporting and opposing affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or defense is based. (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (b)(2).)

### IV. OVERVIEW OF MEDICAL PEER REVIEW

### A. The Statutory Scheme Governing Peer Review.

A comprehensive statutory scheme governs peer review. A hospital's medical staff—acting under the hospital governing body's ultimate authority—is statutorily responsible for ensuring

patient safety. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 70703, subd. (a).) Hospitals that inadequately monitor and discipline their physicians are liable to patients for resulting injuries. (*Elam v. College Park Hospital* (1982) 132 Cal.App.3d 332, 341.) Hospitals and medical staffs protect patient safety through peer review, statutorily defined as the "process in which a peer review body¹ reviews the basic qualifications, staff privileges, employment, medical outcomes, or professional conduct of licentiates to make recommendations for quality improvement and education ...." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 805, subd. (a)(1)(A).)

The key statutes governing peer review are Business and Professions Code sections 805 et seq. ("Section 805") and 809 et seq. ("Section 809"). Section 805 describes peer review bodies' extensive reporting requirements to the California Medical Board. Section 809 codifies the fair procedure and administrative hearing aspects of peer review. (See *El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, 986.)

In addition, medical staff bylaws guide peer review. (See generally, 2 AA 477 et seq. [Mission Bylaws]; 2 AA 327 et seq. [St. Joseph Bylaws].) By design, medical staff bylaws differ depending on the needs of each hospital and community. All bylaws, however, reflect the same statutory structure. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809, subd. (a)(8) [requiring medical staff bylaws to implement Section 809].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A "peer review body" includes a hospital's medical staff and its quality review committees. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 805, subd. (a)(1)(B).)

### B. Peer Review Communications and Actions.

Committee Discussions: <sup>2</sup> Peer review often begins when a person communicates concerns about a physician's patient care to medical staff leaders, peer review committees, or the hospital. (See, e.g., 2 AA 519, art. IX, § 2 [Mission Bylaws].) Peer review committees investigate the concerns and discuss their findings. (2 AA 542, art. XII, § 5.A.) The Medical Executive Committee ("MEC"), composed of elected or appointed leaders of the medical staff, may then investigate and debate the proper response to protect patients. (2 AA 544, art. XIII, § 2.B(8).)

MEC Disciplinary Recommendations: If warranted to protect patients, the MEC may recommend physician discipline. (2 AA 520, art. IX, § 5.) As relevant here, the MEC may recommend terminating a physician's privileges or denying a physician's reappointment application. (2 AA 520, art. IX, § 5.E; 2 AA 506, art. VI, § 4.B.) These recommendations trigger hearing rights, and do not take effect until after the physician waives or exhausts all hearing and appellate rights. (Ibid; 2 AA 527, art. X, § 3; Sahlolbei v. Providence Healthcare, Inc. (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 1137, 1142.)

**MEC Summary Suspensions:** The MEC may also summarily suspend the physician's privileges—on an interim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The processes described here are simplified and focus on those parts relevant to Plaintiff's claims. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 805, subd. (a)(1)(A) ["peer review" includes "[a]ny other activities of a peer review body"]; see also 2 AA 545, art. XIII, § 2.B [listing 16 different MEC duties].)

basis while the physician exercises hearing rights—where "the failure to take that action may result in an imminent danger to the health of any individual." (2 AA 521, art IX, § 9.A; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809.5, subd. (a).)

Peer Review Hearings: If the physician petitions for a hearing, he or she is entitled to written notice of the charges, limited discovery, and the right to call and cross-examine witnesses. (2 AA 528–529, art. X, §§ 6–8; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809.3.) Hearings are usually held before a Judicial Review Committee ("JRC"), a jury-like body composed of a physician's peers. (2 AA 528, art. X, § 4; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809.2, subd. (a).) Either the physician or the MEC may appeal the JRC's decision to the hospital's governing body. (2 AA 533, art. X, § 9.C; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809.4, subd. (b).)

Governing Body Action: Ultimately—after the physician waives or exercises hearing and appellate rights—all disciplinary recommendations and summary suspensions are subject to final approval by the hospital's governing body, typically the hospital board. (2 AA 520, art. IX, § 6; 2 AA 522, art. IX, § 9.C(2); 2 AA 535, art. X, §§ 10.G, 11.) The hospital board is usually permitted "to exercise its independent judgment" in evaluating whether to accept, modify, or reject the recommended discipline. (See 2 AA 535, art. X, § 10.G; Ellison v. Sequoia Health Services (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1486, 1497.)

Court Review: After the governing body imposes discipline, the physician may seek court review by petitioning for a writ of administrative mandamus. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1094.5.)

### C. Reporting to the Medical Board.

Peer review bodies must report most summary suspensions, denials of reappointment applications, and terminations, among many other triggering events, to the California Medical Board and the National Practitioner Data Bank ("NPDB"). (See Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 805, 805.01; 42 U.S.C. § 11133; see also *Arnett v. Dal Cielo* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 4, 7 [Medical Board regulates the practice of medicine as an exercise of the state's "police power"].)

At the state level, peer review bodies report physician discipline to the California Medical Board through "805 Reports" and "805.01 Reports." (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 805, 805.01.) Failing to submit these reports carries serious consequences—a \$100,000 fine per violation and, for medical staff leaders, potential separate actions against their own medical license for "unprofessional conduct." (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 805, subd. (k), 805.01, subd. (g), (h).)

Peer review bodies must also report disciplinary recommendations and other events to federal authorities through the NPDB. (See 42 U.S.C. § 11133; see also 42 U.S.C. § 11101 ["There is a national need to restrict the ability of incompetent physicians to move from State to State without disclosure or discovery of the physician's previous damaging or incompetent performance."].) Peer review reporting is thus incorporated "into the overall process for the licensure of California physicians." (See *Kibler*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 199-200.)

### D. Peer Review Exists to Protect Public Safety.

"[T]he overriding goal of the state-mandated peer review process is protection of the public ...." (Medical Staff of Sharp Memorial Hospital v. Superior Court (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 173, 181-182.) When physicians volunteer to participate in peer review, they perform a vital public service. The Legislature found: "Peer review, fairly conducted, is essential to preserving the highest standards of medical practice." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809, subd. (a)(3), emphasis added.) Thus, "while important, physicians' due process rights are subordinate to the needs of public safety." (Sharp, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 182.)

### V. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

# A. Plaintiff's Dangerous Surgeries at Mission and St. Joseph Hospitals Triggers Peer Review.

Plaintiff, a urogynecologist, held medical staff privileges at Mission Hospital (from 2002 to November 2010) and St. Joseph Hospital (from July to September 2010). (1 AA 35; 3 AA 741.) After he seriously injured multiple patients, the medical staffs at both hospitals conducted peer review activities under their medical staff bylaws.

Mission Hospital Peer Review: In 2009, Plaintiff perforated a patient's bowel five times during a surgery at Mission Hospital. (3 AA 742.3) This case—and many others—triggered in-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Each of the citations in Section V.A are to Plaintiff's declaration opposing Defendants' anti-SLAPP motion, or exhibits thereto.

depth peer review committee investigations. (*Ibid.*) Mission's Medical Executive Committee ("MEC") ultimately voted to summarily suspend Plaintiff's privileges and to recommend to the governing board that his application for reappointment be denied. (2 AA 457; 3 AA 744–745.)

Plaintiff requested and received an evidentiary hearing, which took over 30 sessions. (3 AA 747.) On April 22, 2014, the Judicial Review Committee ("JRC") issued a decision in the MEC's favor on the termination recommendation and partially in Plaintiff's favor on the summary suspension.<sup>4</sup> (3 AA 630.) Plaintiff and the MEC both appealed. (3 AA 738.) The Mission Appellate Committee, a subcommittee of the hospital's governing board, recommended confirming the summary suspension and denying Plaintiff's application for reappointment. (3 AA 740–741.) On December 18, 2014, the Mission Hospital Board of Trustees adopted the Appellate Committee's recommendations. (3 AA 792–794.) Plaintiff declined to challenge the Board's decision by filing a mandamus petition in superior court. As required by law, Mission reported its activities to the California Medical Board and NPDB. (See, e.g., 1 AA 237–238; 2 AA 459–472.)

St. Joseph Hospital Peer Review: In July 2010, while under investigation at Mission, Plaintiff joined St. Joseph's Medical Staff. (2 AA 434.) Three of Plaintiff's first six robotic surgeries at St. Joseph Hospital resulted in devastating patient

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The JRC found that the summary suspension was reasonable and warranted to protect patients at the time it was imposed, but that its continuation was no longer necessary. (1 AA 95.)

injuries. (*Ibid.*) One of Plaintiff's patients nearly died. (*Ibid.*) A St. Joseph physician who responded emergently to the scene described Plaintiff's disastrous surgery attempt as resembling "gunshot wounds to the abdomen." (2 AA 440.)

St. Joseph's MEC recommended terminating Plaintiff's privileges, and summarily suspended his privileges in the interim to protect patients. (2 AA 312.) Plaintiff requested a hearing, which lasted for ten evidentiary sessions. (2 AA 434.) St. Joseph's JRC issued its decision on August 3, 2012,<sup>5</sup> and the MEC appealed. (2 AA 434.) Prior to the appellate hearing, however, the parties settled the matter on May 16, 2013. (2 AA 451–455.) In the settlement agreement, Plaintiff generally released St. Joseph from any and all claims. (*Ibid.*) Like Mission, St. Joseph reported its peer review activities to the California Medical Board and NPDB. (See 1 AA 235–236; 2 AA 315–322.) Due to the settlement, neither the St. Joseph MEC's termination recommendation nor its summary suspension was ultimately adopted by the hospital's governing board.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The JRC found that Dr. Bonni's poor surgical technique caused avoidable patient injuries in all three of the cases it reviewed. (See 2 AA 437, Charge 3; 2 AA 439, Charge 5; 2 AA 440, Charge 2.) It nevertheless recommended lifting the summary suspension on Dr. Bonni's non-robotics privileges, reasoning that "Dr. Bonni's poor surgical technique in the performance of robotic surgeries is [not] indicative of deficiencies in non-robotic surgeries." (2 AA 445.)

# B. Plaintiff Files the First Amended Complaint and His Declaration.

On November 25, 2014, Plaintiff filed this lawsuit, accusing eight individual physicians, two hospitals, and a medical staff of a vast and elaborate conspiracy to retaliate against him through peer review. (See 1 AA 6.) Defendants St. Joseph Hospital of Orange and Mission Hospital Regional Medical Center are independent, 501(c)(3) nonprofit hospitals within St. Joseph Health System.<sup>6</sup> Defendants Christopher Nolan, Michael Ritter, Kenneth Rexinger, Farzad Masoudi, and Tod Lempert are physician Medical Staff members at Mission Hospital. Defendants Randy Fiorentino, Juan Velez, and George Moro are physician Medical Staff members at St. Joseph Hospital. All individual physicians Plaintiff sued were participants in the peer review hearing process at each hospital, as either medical staff leaders, hearing witnesses, or both.

In his First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), Plaintiff alleges retaliation in violation of California whistleblower statutes, specifically Health and Safety Code section 1278.5 and Business and Professions Code sections 510 and 2056.7 (1 AA 6.) Plaintiff's FAC alleges that all Defendants conspired to engage in "a continuous course of conduct … designed to retaliate against

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In July 2016, St. Joseph Health System combined with Providence Health & Services to create Providence St. Joseph.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Plaintiff also alleged breach of contract and rescission of contract. (1 AA 6.) These contract-based causes of action are not at issue on appeal.

Plaintiff, and cause damage to his reputation" through peer review. (1 AA 12.)

On April 8, 2015, Defendants moved to strike the retaliation cause of action from the FAC pursuant to the anti-SLAPP statute. (1 AA 28-50.) In opposition, Plaintiff filed a declaration expanding on his allegations of retaliation. (1 AA 226 et seq.) According to Plaintiff's FAC and declaration, Defendants' alleged retaliatory acts included, inter alia:

### Peer Review Committee Discussions:

- "Engaging in a campaign of character assassination which caused irreparable damage to Plaintiff's reputation." (1 AA 14.)
- "Making defamatory statements about Plaintiff." (*Ibid.*)
- At Mission, "communicat[ing] to the [peer review] committee that [Plaintiff] had a high complication rate with [his] surgeries ...." (1 AA 236.)

### Peer Review Disciplinary Actions and Recommendations:

- At St. Joseph and Mission, the MECs summarily suspending Plaintiff's medical staff membership and clinical privileges. (1 AA 13.)
- At Mission, the MEC recommending denying Plaintiff's medical staff reappointment application. (1 AA 238–239.)

- At Mission, "having an Appellate Committee recommend to the Board that it reverse the findings of the JRC ...."8 (1 AA 13.)
- At Mission, "the Board of Trustees adopting the recommendations of the Appellate Committee ...." (1 AA 13.)
- At St. Joseph, the MEC recommending "terminat[ing]
   Plaintiff's hospital membership and clinical privileges." (1
   AA 14.)
- At St. Joseph, "coercing Plaintiff to enter into a
  [Settlement] Agreement dated May 15, 2013," before the
  termination recommendation could be finalized. (1 AA 14;
  see also 2 AA 451–455.)

### Peer Review Hearing Statements and Appeals:

- At Mission and St. Joseph, providing Plaintiff with several "Notice[s] of Charges," which Plaintiff contends "were false" and "brought against [him] in retaliation." (1 AA 233–234.)
- At Mission, amending the "Notice of Charges," which
   Plaintiff contends "was a further act of retaliation." (1 AA
   239–240.)
- "Mission took further retaliatory action against [Plaintiff] by appealing [the JRC] decision ...." (1 AA 241.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, supra, footnote 4.

• "St. Joseph further retaliated against [Plaintiff] by threatening to appeal [the JRC] decision ...." (1 AA 235.)

### Peer Review Medical Board and NPDB Reporting:

- At Mission and St. Joseph, "[r]eporting Plaintiff's summary suspensions to the Medical Board of California and National Practitioner Data Bank ...." (1 AA 13.)
- At St. Joseph, "failing to use the specific language as agreed upon by the parties in reporting to the Medical Board of California and National Practitioner Data Bank." (1 AA 14.)

Plaintiff's FAC and declaration summarize these alleged retaliatory actions by Defendants as: "Abusing the powers of the peer review process and subjecting Plaintiff to a lengthy and humiliating peer review process for over two years ...." (1 AA 13; 1 AA 242.)

# C. The Trial Court Grants Defendants' Special Motion to Strike.

On June 12, 2015, the trial court granted Defendants' anti-SLAPP motion. (4 AA 891–892.) The court found that the gravamen of Plaintiff's retaliation cause of action "is based on defendants' protected peer review activities (*Kibler*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 199)" and thus "the anti-SLAPP statute applies." (4 AA 892.) On prong two of the analysis, the trial court found that Plaintiff failed to provide admissible evidence that he made *any* patient safety complaints at St. Joseph Hospital. (*Ibid.*) Regarding Mission Hospital, the trial court found that "Plaintiff has not

presented any evidence indicating the hospital initiated the peer review process or revoked his privileges for complaining about patient safety concerns or advocating for medically appropriate healthcare." (*Ibid.*)

### D. The Court of Appeal Reverses.

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