Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically RECEIVED on 5/18/2020 on 5:06:56 PM Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 5/18/2020 by Robert Toy, Deputy Clerk

# S244148

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### ARAM BONNI,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

ST. JOSEPH HEALTH SYSTEM, ET AL., Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 3, CASE NO. G052367 JUDGE ANDREW P. BANKS, CASE NO. 30-2014-00758655

## **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### **GREENE, BROILLET & WHEELER, LLP**

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

This is precisely why defendants claim the activity alleged in plaintiff's complaint is protected. While defendants focus on statements that were made implementing the summary suspensions by Mission and St. Joseph and the later termination of privileges by Mission, the adverse employment actions suffered by plaintiff were either (1) the act of suspension and termination themselves; (2) the natural consequences of those acts; or (3) conduct that had no alleged connection with the peer review process.

In the operative complaint plaintiff alleges 16 acts by both defendant-hospitals and three additional acts by St. Joseph. (1-AA13-14.) Summary suspension is the lead act of retaliation referenced in the complaint and other retaliatory acts related to their issuance (examples 2, 12, 13); and the government reports required due to the longevity of the suspensions (example 3). Plaintiff further alleges that the termination of staff privileges was an act of retaliation (example 14). (1-AA14.) The other acts ether simply a

byproduct of the suspensions or had no alleged connection to peer review.<sup>4</sup> Finally, as described below, the separate alleged retaliatory acts by St. Joseph related to its breach of a settlement agreement with plaintiff (1-AA13) and is not protected speech.

Simply put, plaintiff's claim of alleged liability does not arise merely from the initiation and pursuit of the proceedings or from statements made during those proceedings. While the proceedings may be evidence of the hospitals alleged liability, they are not the basis for it. Because a claim "may be struck only if the speech or petitioning activity *itself* is the wrong complained of, and not just evidence of liability." (*Park, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1060.)<sup>5</sup>

As now explained, the specific allegations which Defendants argue are protected are certainly not the gist of plaintiff's retaliation claim. Further, even if this Court concludes that defendants have preserved the right to challenge only specific allegations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>For example, the following acts have no express connection to peer review: (7) "[o]ngoing hostility in the work environment;" (8) "[o]bstructing other economic and career opportunities for Plaintiff;" (9) '[f]ailing to protect Plaintiff from retaliation for whistleblowers and adverse actions;" (10) "[i]intolerable working conditions;" (11) [e]ngaging in a campaign of character assassination which caused irreparable damage to Plaintiff's reputation;" (15) "[i]mproperly using Plaintiff's confidential and private health information." (1-AA13-14.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Compare *Okorie supra*, 14 Cal.App.5th at pp. 581–583, on which defendants rely. There, the plaintiff's claims were based entirely on statements and writings. The Court was careful to note that "Plaintiffs do not allege that LAUSD ever terminated Okorie's employment. Instead they allege that "[a]s a result of the [accumulation] of the above described incidents.... Plaintiffs ... faced unimaginable humiliation and embarrassment" due to Defendants' conduct." The Court distinguished *Park*, reasoning: "Plaintiffs' complaint here is based collectively on a handful of decisions (unsupported by any evidence of discriminatory animus) *and* a wide array of allegedly injury-causing statements and communicative conduct by Defendants. In other words, the speech complained of here does not merely "supply evidence of animus." (*Ibid*.) Rather, the speech at issue is explicitly alleged to be the injury-producing conduct. Because LAUSD's speech and communicative conduct is the wrong complained of, the next question in our inquiry is whether that speech and communicative conduct was protected." (*Id*. at p. 593.) This is in sharp contrast to the present case where the acts – not just the statements – are the focus of plaintiff's retaliation claim.

in isolation, the allegations on which defendants' focus did not satisfy prong one of the anti-SLAPP statute.

#### **1.** Peer review committee discussions.

First, defendants argue that plaintiff's "initially" claimed acts of retaliation by "peer review committee discussions and otherwise 'defaming' him." (OB 34.) But the allegations defendants cite demonstrates this is not basis of plaintiff's claim. Defendants first reference the 16th and final example of retaliatory conduct plaintiff listed in his amended complaint which alleges generally: "Making defamatory statements about Plaintiff" (1-AA14) which is not even expressly linked to the peer review process.

Defendants then cite to three other passages in the appendix:

(1) AA 12-14: These are three pages of the operative complaint where plaintiff describes the various acts of retaliation engaged in by defendants. Defendants again zero in on the allegations of making defamatory statements and the allegation that defendant engaged "in a campaign of character assassination." (OB 35.) Again, these allegations do not reference peer review discussions;

(2) AA 230: This is a page from plaintiff's declaration in opposition to the anti-SLAPP motion in which he describes plaintiff's reports and defendants' failure to adequate respond to them instead referring the matter for outside review; and

(3) AA 235-236: On these pages, plaintiff initially describes his settlement with St Joseph regarding the language that was to be reported and St. Josephs breach of that contract by instead reporting different language. Plaintiff then describes Mission's retaliation by summarily suspending his privileges. In the course of this discussion (1-AA236) there is brief mention that "Dr. Rexinger had communicated to the committee that I had a high complication rate with my surgeries without any basis for his claim." (1-AA236.)

33

Defendants extrapolate from these record references that the lead reason why it has met prong one is that "'[t]his wide array of allegedly injury-causing statements and communication by Defendants' constitutes a necessary element of Plaintiff's claims – the alleged retaliatory acts." (OB 35.) But a review of plaintiff's complaint and his declaration reveal that removal of all reference to these communications would not alter the nature of his claim. His harm arose from the acts of suspension and revocation. In any event, the communications are not linked to the peer review process.

#### 2. MEC "Recommendations."

Next, defendants focus on St. Joseph MEC's "recommendation' to terminate plaintiff's privileges and Mission's MEC recommendation denying his reappointment application. (OB 36.) This argument relates to the largely false charges that were brought against plaintiff in the immediate aftermath of his report regarding patient safety. Plaintiff states that the St Joseph's trumped up charges were "false and brought against me in retaliation for my reports related to patient safety" (1-AA234) and claimed the same as to Mission. (1-AA240.) But this does not bring his retaliation claim within Prong One. The leveling of these false accusation is evidence of defendants' retaliatory animus and is not itself an adverse employment action necessary to state a claim under section 1278.5.

But as this Court explained in *Park*, 2 Cal.5th at pp. 1062–1063:

A claim arises from protected activity when that activity underlies or forms the basis for the claim. [Citations.] Critically, "the defendant's act underlying the plaintiff's cause of action must *itself* have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech." [Citations.] "[T]he mere fact that an action was filed after protected activity took place does not mean the action arose from that activity for the purposes of the anti-SLAPP statute." (*Navellier v. Sletten, supra*, 29 Cal.4th at p. 89, 124 Cal.Rptr.2d 530, 52 P.3d 703; see *City of Cotati*, at p. 78, 124 Cal.Rptr.2d 519, 52 P.3d 695 [suit may be in "response to or in retaliation for" protected activity without necessarily arising from it].) Instead, the focus is on determining what "the defendant's activity [is] that gives rise to his or her asserted liability—and whether that activity constitutes protected speech or petitioning." [Citation.] "The only means specified in section 425.16 by which a moving defendant can satisfy the ['arising from'] requirement is to demonstrate that *the defendant's conduct by which plaintiff claims to have been injured* falls within one of the four categories described in subdivision (e)...." [Citation.]

It was the fact that these false charges were used to justify the summary suspension and ultimately the actions that were taken by the Hospital Board that caused the harm which forms the gist of plaintiff's claim. And, as already explained, those disciplinary acts are not statements or writings that implicate the anti-SLAPP statute.

None of the cases on which defendants rely bring this action within Prong One simply because plaintiff states in his declaration that defendants leveled false charges against him in retaliation for his protected activity. First, in *Briggs v. Eden Council for Hope & Opportunity* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1106, 1114–1115, the plaintiff's claims for defamation and intentional infliction of emotional distress were based entirely upon statements made during official proceedings. This Court simply held that, in order to fall with the ant-SLAPP statute, it was not necessary for those claims to also implicate a public issue. (*Id.* at p. 1113.) Unlike *Briggs*, here plaintiff is not simply claiming that defendants said harmful things against him during an official proceeding. Rather, plaintiff is alleging that the false charges were harmful because they ultimately lead to an act.

Likewise, in *Neville v. Chudacoff* (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 1255, 1270, the Court held that a claim against a lawyer based solely upon statements in a letter he wrote in contemplation of litigation was within the anti-SLAPP statute. Again, the actionable conduct entirely consisted of a writing or a statement, in stark contrast to here. The same is true as to *Cabral v. Martins* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 471, 479, where the actionable conduct in question was statements and writing of a lawyer representing a client during a probate proceedings.

35

#### **3.** Medical Board and NPDB Reports.

Next, defendants argue that plaintiff's reference to the fact that the reports made to the California Medical Board and NPBD inured him, brings this action with the anti-SLAPP statute. (OB 41.) Defendants are mistaken. The fact that these Reports constitute part of an official proceeding does not automatically mean that the anti-SLAPP statute applies. First, as to Mission Hospital plaintiff alleges that reporting the summary suspension to the National Practitioner Data Bank – which was the automatic byproduct of the summary suspension itself – was part of the retaliatory conduct that harmed him. But, with a limited example, plaintiff is not alleging that there was anything independently actionable as to the manner in which that Report was drafted. Thus, this conduct is another example of evidence of the hospitals alleged liability, they are not the basis for it. Because a claim "may be struck only if the speech or petitioning activity *itself* is the wrong complained of, and not just evidence of liability." (*Park, supra, 2* Cal.5th at p. 1060.)

As to St. Joseph, plaintiff does allege that the Report was drafted using language different from plaintiff's agreement with St. Joseph as to the specific language that would be used. The violation of this agreement is not protected speech (see *Applied Business Software, Inc. v. Pacific Mortgage Exchange, Inc.* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1108, 1118) or even privileged under Civil Code section 47 to which defendants seek analogize. (See *Stacy & Witbeck, Inc. v. City and County of San Francisco* (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 1, 7-8 ["The paper trail of contractual performance and course of dealing between parties under a contract cannot be immunized from use in later judicial proceedings just because that paper trail is also a publication that serves a litigation purpose. If that same paper trail amounts to wrongful performance or conduct under the contract, it escapes section 47(b)."].)

Further, the fact that plaintiff claims to have suffered damages as a result of those reports does not mean that his claims are based on those reports. As explained, those

reports were the natural consequence of the length of the suspensions imposed by defendants. Since the act of suspension is not a writing or statement during an official proceeding that is protected under the SLAPP statute, neither can the reports which are mandated due to those suspensions be protected. (See *Anderson v. Geist* (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 79, 87.)

# 4. Written notices submitted during the hearing and appellate process.

Defendants next argue that plaintiff's claim "Defendants retaliated against him by affording him the very peer review hearings and appellate rights he requested to challenge the MEC recommendations." (OB 45.) Defendants cite to AA13-14. However, a review of those pages from the operative complaint leaves it unclear just what defendants are arguing. While plaintiff alleges that, as a part of defendants' campaign of retaliation, they engaged in a lengthy and humiliating peer review process for over two years" resulting in a delay of the summary suspensions and that the Appellate Committee reversed the favorable findings of the JRC (1-AA13), there are no writings and statements which plaintiff alleges were the actionable. Again, this simply demonstrates that what plaintiff is ultimately concerned with was the fact that the summary suspensions continued and that ultimately Mission terminated his staff privileges. It was not simply that there was an appeal of the JRC determination favorable to plaintiff. It was the fact that defendants orchestrated the reversal of those findings.

Finally, defendants argue that plaintiff's claims arise from defendants' participation in the JRC proceedings reviewing the charges against him. (OB 47.) Once again the fact that plaintiff claims an act of retaliation included the false charges that were reviewed during the JRC proceedings and that they dragged out those proceedings to prolong plaintiff's summary suspension, does not mean that the gist of this action was the statements or writings in an official proceeding.

In short, nothing defendants argue establishes that the gist of plaintiff's retaliation action as a whole was based on protected conduct. Further, even if the isolated allegations on which defendants now focus are evaluated, their argument fails.

C. Defendants' Effort To Salvage Its Prong One Claim By Reliance On Section 425.16's Provision Capturing Claims Arising From Conduct "Furtherance Of The Exercise Of The Constitutional Right Of Petition Or The Constitutional Right Of Free Speech In Connection With A Public Issue Or An Issue Of Public Interest," Fails.

Defendants next argue that even if they cannot establish that plaintiff's retaliation is based on a statement or writing in an official proceeding, they are still entitled anti-SLAPP protection because plaintiff's claim supposedly falls with section 425.16(e)(4). (OB 49.) That provision defines protected activity as including "any other conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech in connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest." This belated effort fails for several reasons.

#### **D.** Defendants Have Forfeited This Argument.

First, defendants have not preserved this argument since: (1) it was not argued in their anti-SLAPP motion in the trial court (1-AA40-42); (2) it was not raised in their Court of Appeal briefing; and (3) it was not raised in their Petition for Review or in their brief arguing why this Court should maintain review of this matter following *Wilson v. Cable News Network, Inc.* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 871. Simply put, plaintiff urges this Court to decline addressing this issue which was raised for the very first time in defendants' Opening Brief on the Merits. (See Cal. Rules of Court, 8.516(b).)

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